# **CONSTITUTION**

#### FOR RARE HORSE SOCIETY OF NEW ZEALAND - 2024

# 1. NAME:

The name of the society is: Rare Horse Society of New Zealand Inc.

#### 2. OBJECT:

The Object is to ensure the conservation of purebred horse breeds, breeding groups and the genetic diversity of domestic horses, for the benefit of members of the public and future generations, whatever uses they may have for their horses.

The Object shall be achieved by:

Advancing education by:

- Holding exhibitions and shows of rare horse breed to promote the presence of unique horses in NZ and educate the public on the status and opportunities for the breeds. This supplies breeders with potential buyers through exposure opportunities.
- Managing the Website and Social media accounts to keep rare breeds in the public eye for serious consideration among NZ buyers.
- Seek and promote information with a view to inform breeders and owners of ideal husbandry, responsible breeding practices and ideal welfare standards where the typical body condition assessments and standard dietary advice will not suffice for the breed.

# Benefitting the community by:

- Keeping a database of current horse breeds in New Zealand maintaining awareness of what we have in NZ and if they are declining, growing or stable.
- Providing registration facilities for breeds if no suitable options exist to promote pure breeding and breed integrity.
- Liaising with selective overseas entities whose objects are consistent with that of the Society and where global efforts and co-operation greatly benefits all ie: DNA submissions.
- Co-operating with & affiliating with or otherwise supporting other clubs or organisations in NZ such as A&P Associations, show organisers and sporting groups such as Equestrian Sports NZ and livestock conservation group Rare Breeds Conservation Society of NZ to establish pathways and opportunities for rare breeds to be included and to support those who are providing those opportunities.
- Networking globally to establish connections with relevant persons and establishments that may work alongside us to ensure the acquisition and continuation of quality genetics in New Zealand so that we may host a desirable 'ark' of horses should international issues threaten the breeds overseas.
- Undertaking actions required to run a Society

#### 3. MEMBERSHIP:

- (i) Any person shall become a member of the Society upon completion of a written application and its acceptance by the Committee, and on satisfying the following requirements:
- (a) Agreement to abide by the Constitution and Rules of the Society.
- (b) Payment of the prescribed subscriptions.
- (ii) There shall be the following classes of membership:
- (a) Full members (\$30)
- (b) Student members if relevant ID can be presented (\$20)
- (c) Overseas resident members (\$20)
- (d) Honorary members as determined from time to time by the Committee (gifted)
- (e) Life members as determined from time to time at the Annual General Meeting (not currently an active option as the society is too young but in future years we can consider activating this section) (iii) Where a company, partnership or family seek membership other than joint membership only one person shall be entitled to exercise the membership rights on behalf of that entity, and that person shall be the person nominated in writing to the Secretary until further written notice is received.
- (iv) The Committee reserves the right to refuse to admit to membership any applicant.
- (v) A person must consent to being a member of the society.

# 4. SUBSCRIPTION:

- (i) Subscriptions payable by the respective classes of members shall be fixed from time to time by the Committee.
- (ii) Members shall be liable to pay their appropriate annual subscription within three months of the beginning of the financial year of the Society.
- (iii) Members joining past halfway through the year shall be entitled to pay half the annual subscription for that year. \$15 (6 months of less).

# 5. MEMBERSHIP REGISTER:

A register of members shall be kept by the Committee, in which the following will be recorded:

- 1. The name of each member
- 2. The last known contact details of each member
- 3. The date on which each person became a member
- 4. All other information prescribed by the regulations

The register shall be kept in the Office of the Society if there is an office. Or with the Secretary and backed up online in a cloud drive. Every society must update its register of members as soon as practicable after becoming aware of changes to the information recorded on the register.

# 6. RESIGNATION OF MEMBERSHIP:

A member may resign from the Society by giving notice in writing to that effect and every such notice shall, unless otherwise expressed, take effect as from the end of the current membership year.

# 7. CESSATION OF MEMBERSHIP:

- (i) Any member whose subscription is in arrears for a period of three months after due date shall forthwith cease to be a member, provided that such member may be reinstated on payment of appropriate subscriptions.
- (ii) Any member who refuses to abide by the rules of the Society or whose actions are detrimental to its Object may be expelled by resolution of two-thirds of the Committee. An expelled member may reapply to the Society for membership two years after the date of expulsion and the Committee shall have the sole discretion to determine whether that person shall be readmitted to membership.

# 8. OFFICERS & COMMITTEE:

- (i) Nomination and election of Officers and Committee:
- a. Nominations for Officers and Members of the Committee shall be called for by the Secretary by notice to all members at least 42 days before the Annual General Meeting.
- b. Nominations in writing for any Officer or Committee Member must be received by the Secretary at least 28 days before the Annual General Meeting. Nominations must be made by the proposer and a seconder, and also the nominee must advise the secretary of his or her willingness to accept the nomination.
- c. All nominees for Office Holders and the Committee must be Honorary or Life or paid up Joint or Full Members of the Rare Breeds Conservation Society of New Zealand.
- d. A nominee for any office may also be nominated by a separate nomination for any other office or as a Member of the Committee.
- (ii) Officers and Committee Members:
- a. The Annual General Meeting will elect the following: President, Treasurer, Secretary, and not less than three additional Committee members. The Meeting may also elect one or two Vice-Presidents, and elect additional committee members provided that the total number of persons holding office shall not exceed 10.
- b. The quorum (minimum number) of the Committee shall be not less than half of its total number.
- c. The Committee has power to co-opt temporary replacements for office-holders to serve on the Committee until the next Annual General Meeting.
- d. The Committee may appoint sub-committees whose composition and business will be conducted according to whatever regulations the Committee may stipulate.
- (iii) Officers and Committee Members shall be elected by a ballot, conducted as follows:
- a. The Secretary shall send to each Honorary, Life, paid up Joint and Full Member, at least 21 days before the Annual General Meeting, a voting paper containing the names and a brief profile if available of all nominations for the various Offices and the Committee.
- b. Each voter shall indicate on the voting paper by ticking the box next to the name of any candidate for office whom he or she desires to vote for.
- c. Each voting paper shall be returned to the Secretary prior to the Annual General Meeting in accordance with clause 8(iv).
- d. The Secretary shall hold all voting papers for counting by scrutineers at the Annual General Meeting.
- e. At least two scrutineers (election conductors) shall be elected at the beginning of the meeting from those present at the Annual General Meeting.
- f. The Secretary shall supply the scrutineers with a list of names of all Honorary, Life and paid up Joint and Full Members on which they will make note of receipt of each vote provided by the member.
- g. When the scrutineers have scrutinized and counted the votes, the results shall be handed to the Chairman of the meeting who shall announce them before the conclusion of the meeting.
- h. In the event of a person being nominated for more than one office or both for an office and as a

Member of Committee, the offices shall be filled in the following order: President, Secretary, Treasurer, and these shall precede the Committee. In the event of a tie for President a revote by the members present at the Annual General Meeting will decide who becomes President. The other nominee will become one of the two Vice Presidents.

(iv) All correspondence required under this section may be provided electronically, or by hard copy posted or provided in person to the recipient.

#### **Qualifications of officers**

- (1) Every officer of a society must be a natural person.
- (2) A natural person who is not disqualified by subsection (3) may be elected or appointed as an officer of the society, so long as that person—
- (a) has consented in writing to be an officer; and
- (b) certifies that they are not disqualified from being elected or appointed or otherwise holding office as an officer of the society.
- (3) The following persons are disqualified from being elected or appointed or otherwise holding office as an officer of a society:
- (a) a person who is under 16 years of age:
- (b) a person who is an undischarged bankrupt:
- (c) a person who is prohibited from being a director or promoter of, or being concerned or taking part in the management of, an incorporated or unincorporated body under the <u>Companies Act 1993</u>, the <u>Financial Markets Conduct Act 2013</u>, or the <u>Takeovers Act 1993</u>:
- (d) a person who is disqualified from being an officer of a charitable entity under <u>section 36C</u> of the Charities Act 2005:
- (e) a person who has been convicted of any of the following, and has been sentenced for the offence, within the last 7 years:
- (i) an offence under subpart 6 of Part 4:
- (ii) a crime involving dishonesty (within the meaning of section 2(1) of the Crimes Act 1961):
- (iii) an offence under <u>section 143B</u> of the Tax Administration Act 1994:
- (iv) an offence under section 22(2):
- (v) an offence, in a country, State, or territory other than New Zealand, that is substantially similar to an offence specified in subparagraphs (i) to (iv):
- (vi) a money laundering offence or an offence relating to the financing of terrorism, whether in New Zealand or elsewhere:
- (f) a person who is subject to any of the following orders:
- (i) a banning order under <u>subpart 7</u> of Part 4:
- (ii) an order under section 108 of the Credit Contracts and Consumer Finance Act 2003:
- (iii) a forfeiture order under the Criminal Proceeds (Recovery) Act 2009:

- (iv) a property order made under the <u>Protection of Personal and Property Rights Act 1988</u>, or whose property is managed by a trustee corporation under <u>section 32</u> of that Act:
- (g) a person who is subject to an order that is substantially similar to an order referred to in paragraph (f) under a law of a country, State, or territory outside New Zealand that is a country, State, or territory prescribed by the regulations:
- (h) in relation to any particular society, a person who does not comply with any qualifications for officers contained in the society's constitution.
- (4) A natural person who is disqualified from being an officer but who acts as an officer is an officer for the purposes of a provision of this Act that imposes a duty or an obligation on an officer.

Roles for 2024 onward:

**President: Liselle Silver** 

Vice President: Megan Hopkinson

**Treasurer: Daisy Reeves** 

Secretary: Anna Zhigareva

**Committee Member: Jane Tait** 

Committee Member - Ryan Merwood

# 9. ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING:

The Annual General Meeting shall be held within three months of the end of the Society's financial year at a time and place to be fixed by the Committee for the following purposes:

- (i) To receive and consider the Annual Report of the Committee and the Financial Report of the Treasurer.
- (ii) (a) To appoint a Patron, if the Meeting so desires.
- (b) To elect the Committee.
- (c) To appoint a suitably qualified person to review the Financial Report as required in clause 13 (vii).
- (iii) To consider any motion that may have been duly submitted for the decision of the Meeting together with any proposed amendments thereto.
- (iv) To consider any other matter that may concern the Society.

# 10. NOTICE AND QUORUM FOR ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING:

(a) Notice for Annual General Meeting:

The Committee shall ensure that, not less than 21 clear days before an Annual General Meeting, notice shall be sent to every member of:

- (i) The time and place for the meeting and how members can either attend in person or through the use of online media or other technology
- (ii) The agenda together with a form of proxy for the meeting, and any possible resolutions that may be considered
- (iii) How proxy attendance or votes on proposed resolutions may be provided in accordance with Clause 11(ii)-(iv)

- (b) Quorum for Annual General Meeting
- (i) No business shall be transacted at any Meeting unless there is a quorum in attendance.
- (ii) Attendance can be either personally or through remote participation using online media or other technology.
- (iii) The quorum shall be 15 members participating in attendance either personally or through online media or other technology.
- (iv) Members who wish to attend through online media or other remote technology shall contact the Secretary at least seven days before the Annual General Meeting, and clarify how the attendance may occur. In the event of the technology or service is either available or unavailable due to AGM venue location, the secretary shall use their best endeavours to facilitate such attendance, and shall refer to the Committee for consideration and resolution for any requests for online attendance if the requested on-line tool for attendance is not available or cannot be used.
- (c) Correspondence

All correspondence required under this section may be provided electronically, or by hard copy posted or provided in person to the recipient.

# 11. PROCEDURE AT GENERAL MEETINGS:

- (i) At all General Meetings, if the President is absent, a member of the Committee shall be elected by the meeting to take the Chair.
- (ii) Every member shall have one vote and no more except that any person having been duly appointed to vote as a proxy may record a vote for each member by whom he or she had been so appointed.

Except where otherwise provided in these rules, the majority of all votes cast shall decide all questions. In the case of equality of votes, the Chair shall exercise a casting vote.

- (iii) The mode of voting at all meetings shall be by voice or, where required, by a show of hands PROVIDED THAT any member may demand a secret ballot that shall be taken immediately.
- (iv) A member may appoint a proxy to vote at a general meeting in their place, providing the Secretary is notified in writing prior to the meeting.

# 12. SPECIAL GENERAL MEETING:

A Special General Meeting may be convened at any time by resolution of the Committee, or by the written request of 15 members, stating the purpose for which such Meeting is required.

- 13. We do not hold the power to borrow money.
- 14. Meetings to be held around the start of each month. Meetings may from time to time be delayed or skipped if major events occur that many members will be attending.

# 13. FINANCING:

- (i) The finances of the Society shall be under the control of the Committee.
- (ii) The Society shall operate such bank accounts as are fixed from time to time by the Committee.
- (iii) All moneys received on behalf of the Society shall forthwith be paid to the credit of the Society in any such accounts.
- (iv) The signatories to any bank account shall be any two of the following:
- (a) President,

- (b) Secretary,
- (c) Treasurer,
- (d) Any designated Committee member.
- (v) The income of the Society, from whatever source derived, shall be applied solely towards the promotion of the Object of the Society and no portion of the funds shall be paid or transferred directly or indirectly to members of the Society unless in return for any service actually rendered to the Society, or in reimbursement of expenses or payments made on the Society's behalf. Committee members and appointed officers may be allowed reimbursement of meeting expenses (eg. travel costs, teleconference costs).
- (i) As the Society encourages it's Committee Members to pay for their own travel costs to the AGM location, the only members eligible for reimbursement of travel expenses, not to exceed \$300 per person per AGM, are the Secretary, Treasurer and President.
- (ii) The total amount of reimbursement for all AGM related expenses, including travel costs, shall be limited to a maximum of 10% of the Society's income from membership fees.
- (iii) Reimbursement requests, with receipts, must be presented within 1 month following the AGM.
- (vi) The Committee is entitled to invest such money of the Society as is from time to time available for investment, in any Trustee Security or by deposit with any Trading Bank in New Zealand.
- (vii) The Financial Report shall be prepared by the Treasurer and, if deemed necessary by the Committee, a review of the accounts shall be carried out by a suitably qualified person to meet the requirements of funders and legislation.

# 14. FINANCIAL YEAR:

The financial year of the Society shall run from 1 April to 31 March.

# 15. BORROWING POWERS:

The Society shall **not**, in addition to the other powers vested in it, have power to borrow or raise money from time to time by the issue of debentures, bonds, mortgages or other security founded or based on all or any of the properties and/or rights of the Society or without any such security and upon such terms as to priority and otherwise as the Society shall think fit, but the powers of so borrowing or raising money shall not be exercised except pursuant to a resolution of the full Committee.

#### 16. PROPERTY:

The Society shall **not** have the following powers to deal with property, both real or personal, including livestock, semen, ova and embryos.

- (i) To acquire by purchase, take on lease or otherwise lands and buildings and all other property real and personal which the Committee considers necessary or convenient for the Society's Object and to sell or dispose of any such property or any part thereof, and to erect on any such land any building and to alter, add to and maintain any building erected on such land;
- (ii) To sell, improve, maintain, manage, exchange, lease, mortgage, dispose of, turn to account or otherwise deal with all or any part of the property, assets or rights of the Society.

# 17. COMMON SEAL:

Will not be created or used at this time.

# 18. REGISTERED OFFICE:

The Society shall **not** currently have a registered office, the situation of which shall be notified to the Registrar of Incorporated Societies.

# 19. WINDING UP:

The Society may be wound up voluntarily if the Society at a General Meeting of its members passes a resolution requiring the Society to be wound up and the resolution is confirmed at a subsequent General Meeting called together for that purpose and held no later than 30 days after the date on which the resolution to be confirmed was passed.

If upon the winding up or dissolution of the Society there remains after the satisfaction of all costs, debts and liabilities any property or assets whatsoever, the same shall be given or transferred to some other institution or institutions having Objects similar the Object of the Society and which shall prohibit the distribution of its or their income and property among its or their members to an extent at least as great as is imposed on this Society, such institution/s to be determined by the members of the Society at or before the time of dissolution or in default thereof by a Judge of the High Court of New Zealand or in the absence of any institution then to such a public charity or public charities as said Judge may determine.

# 20. ALTERATION OF RULES:

These rules may be altered, revised or otherwise amended by a resolution passed by a simple majority of the members voting in person or by proxy, at a General Meeting of the Society, notice of such an alteration, revision or other amendment having been sent no less than 21 days prior to the date of such meeting, provided that no amendment shall be permitted if it in any way affects the status of the Society.